

OSC Staff Notice 33-759

Registration, Inspections and Examinations Division

2025 Annual Report

July 24, 2025

Contents

Message from Matthew Onyeaju	4
Glossary of legislative reference	7
Introduction	8
The purpose of this report	8
Education and outreach	8
Regulatory oversight activities and guidance	8
Impact of upcoming initiatives	9
Who this report is relevant to	9
Service standards	11
Organizational structure	11
Staff contact information	12
Part 1: Outreach	14
1.1 Outreach program and resources	15
1.2 Registrant Advisory Committee	16
Part 2: Information for dealers, advisers and investment fund managers	17
2.1 Annual highlights	18
2.1.1 CFRs - know your client, know your product and suitability determination examinations	. 19
2.1.2 Restricted dealer CTPs' compliance with the account appropriateness, investment limits and client limits	4.0
requirements compliance examinations	
2.1.3 High-risk examinations	. 20
2.1.4 High-impact examinations	. 20
2.1.5 High-risk firms identified through the "Registration as the First Compliance Examination" program	. 21
2.1.6 Net asset value adjustments examinations	. 22

	2.1.7 Digital Engagement Practices (DEP) examinations	23
	2.1.8 Financial institution sales practices examination	24
2.2	Registration and compliance deficiencies	26
	2.2.1 Conflicts of interest (All)	27
	2.2.2 Prospectus exemptions misuse (EMD)	30
	2.2.3 Issues with EMDs holding client cash (EMD)	34
	2.2.4 Excess working capital and subordinated loans (All)	35
	2.2.5 Delays in response to books and records requests for compliance examinations (All)	37
	2.2.6 OSC filings arising from legal actions (All)	39
	2.2.7 Referral arrangements (PM/EMD)	40
	2.2.8 Inadequate compliance system (All)	41
	2.2.9 Market value determination (All)	43
	2.2.10 Inadequate client statements and reports (PM/EMD)	44
	2.2.11 Delegation of advisory functions to non-registered individuals (PM)	47
	2.2.12 Compensation paid to unregistered firms and individuals for registerable activities (All)	48
Part 3: Ir	nitiatives impacting registrants and market participants	50
3.1	Delegation of registration function to CIRO	51
3.2	CTPs prioritization of applications for ID registration with CIRO	52
3.3	Relevant investment management experience – enhanced approach	53
3.4	Derivatives: business conduct rules	54
3.5	Derivatives: trade reporting data rule amendments	55
3.6	Application of securities legislation to certain business models purporting offer immediate delivery of crypto assets	
Contact	Information	62

Message from Matthew Onyeaju

Senior Vice President, Registration, Inspections and Examinations

The Registration, Inspections and Examinations Division (**RIE**) has completed its first year of transformative change following the re-organization of the Regulatory Operations portfolios and my arrival this past fall. As the centre of excellence for compliance examinations within the Ontario Securities Commission (**OSC**), the division has expanded upon our traditional registrant space to now also include examinations of various other regulated entities, including trade repositories, clearing agencies, the exchanges, designated rating organizations, and strategic, risk-based and thematic reviews of the Canadian Investment Regulatory Organization (**CIRO**) members. We will be working closely with CIRO in coordinating this work to minimize potentially duplicative efforts that could lead to unintentional burden. The re-organization has emphasized the importance of collaboration across all divisions within the OSC to provide a harmonized and consistent regulatory response to the capital markets.

Through our continued focus on examinations, the division is fully committed to making Ontario's capital markets inviting, thriving and secure. Investor protection remains paramount to our approach which continues to be risk-based and data driven to maximize the efficient allocation of our resources and yield the most substantive benefit to investors. As part of our modernization efforts, we are also exploring the use of new tools and technology to enhance the examination process, including horizon scanning to gain a robust understanding of the marketplace and potential areas of non-compliance or risk.

Market participants can expect us to offer practical instructive guidance in a proportionate and balanced manner consistent with the principles in our mandate of upholding investor protection, while supporting competition and capital formation.

We endeavour to provide timely insights to our stakeholders by publishing guidance on major initiatives that includes best practices to help firms enhance their compliance processes to meet their regulatory obligations. We are available to discuss guidance with stakeholders, as well as emerging compliance risks and broader developing trends in the market and potential impacts to the registrants we regulate.

I am very proud of what the division has accomplished this past fiscal. In addition to the execution and high bar achieved on our core operational activities, the division accomplished the following:

- surveying the sales environment at certain bank-owned mutual fund dealers in collaboration with our colleagues in Behavioral Insights,
- the second phase of our Client Focused Reforms (**CFRs**) sweeps, focusing on KYC, KYP and suitability determinations,
- digital engagement practices review of online dealers, advisers and crypto asset trading platforms (**CTPs**), and
- reaching several significant settlement agreements through our Registrant Conduct Team.

We've also directly supported the goals set out in the <u>OSC Strategic Plan (May 2024)</u> to right-size regulation and assess the optimal division of responsibilities between ourselves and other regulators through the delegation of certain registration activities to CIRO.

Regarding delegation, on April 1 we expanded upon the delegation of activities to CIRO and delegated the registration of Futures Commissions Merchants, Investment Dealers and Mutual Fund Dealers and the individuals who act on their behalf (where this was not already occurring). The project was an operational success, and we will continue to support CIRO through this transition period.

Earlier this fiscal we published our inaugural edition of our <u>examination priorities</u>, which highlighted areas of strategic interest: the sales practices and culture within certain financial institutions, cybersecurity, artificial intelligence, and the exempt market. We will issue guidance and best practices on our observations following the conclusion of this work. Please also be on the look out for highly topical registrant outreach sessions and a new publication from the division which highlights the work from our Registrant Conduct Team. This report, which we expect to publish in fall 2025, will highlight a selection of conduct files, and offer guidance on how registrants can avoid similar outcomes. We are excited by the possibilities ahead as we continue to make progress on our bold strategic plan.

If you have a question, comment, or would like to discuss regulatory or compliance matters, please feel free to reach out to us.

Matthew Onyeaju, SVP, RIE Ontario Securities Commission

Glossary of legislative reference

Act: Securities Act (Ontario), RSO 1990, c. S. 5

Form 31-103F1: Form 31-103F1 Calculation of Excess Working Capital

Form 33-109F4: Form 33-109F4 Registration of Individuals and Review of Permitted Individuals

Form 33-109F5: Form 33-109F5 Change of Registration Information

Form 33-109F6: Form 33-109F6 Firm Registration

NI 31-103: National Instrument 31-103 Registration Requirements, Exemptions and Ongoing Registrant Obligations

NI 31-103CP: Companion Policy to NI 31-103

NI 33-109: National Instrument 33-109 Registration Information

NI 33-109CP: Companion Policy to NI 33-109

NI 45-106: National Instrument 45-106 Prospectus Exemptions

NI 45-106CP: Companion Policy to NI 45-106

NI 52-107: National Instrument 52-107 Acceptable Accounting Principles, Auditing Standards and Reporting Currency

NI 52-107CP: Companion Policy to NI 52-107

NI 93-101: National Instrument 93-101 Derivatives: Business Conduct

Introduction

The RIE Division of the OSC is responsible for the registration and ongoing supervision of firms and individuals who are in the business of trading in, or advising on, securities or commodity futures and firms that manage investment funds in Ontario. RIE is also responsible for conducting compliance examinations of certain regulated market participants in Ontario, including the enhanced risk-based oversight of CIRO.

The OSC's mandate is to:

- provide protection to investors from unfair, improper or fraudulent practices,
- foster fair, efficient and competitive capital markets and confidence in capital markets,
- foster capital formation, and
- contribute to the stability of the financial system and the reduction of systemic risk.

Registration and examination activities are integral to the OSC's vision of working together to make Ontario's capital markets inviting, thriving and secure.

The purpose of this report

The 2025 Annual Report is designed to assist registrants by providing information about:

Education and outreach

<u>Part 1</u> provides links and information to the registration and ongoing educational resources and outreach opportunities available to current and prospective registrants.

Regulatory oversight activities and guidance

<u>Part 2</u> of this report can be used by registrants as a self-assessment tool to strengthen compliance with Ontario securities law and, as appropriate, to make changes to enhance their systems of compliance, internal controls and supervision.

Impact of upcoming initiatives

<u>Part 3</u> provides insights into some of the new and proposed rules and other regulatory initiatives that may impact a registered firm's operations.

Who this report is relevant to

The 2025 Annual Report provides information for market participants operating in Ontario and primarily for registered firms and registered individuals that are directly regulated by the OSC, including investment fund managers (**IFMs**), portfolio managers (**PMs**), exempt market dealers (**EMDs**) and scholarship plan dealers (**SPDs**). At present, these registrants include:

Firms	Individuals	
1,191 ¹	11,743²	

IFMs	PMs	EMDs	SPDs
558 ³	3404	288 ⁵	5 ⁶

In general, firms must register with the OSC if they conduct any of these activities in Ontario:

¹ Excludes firms registered only in the category of mutual fund dealer (MFD), investment dealer (ID), commodity trading adviser (CTA), commodity trading counsel (CTC), commodity trading manager (CTM) and future commission market (FCM).

² Includes CSA-only registrants (excludes MFD and ID individuals).

³ Includes firms registered only as IFMs and IFMs also registered in other registration categories (other than SPD).

⁴ Includes firms registered only as PMs, restricted portfolio managers (RPMs), and PMs/RPMs also registered in other registration categories (other than IFM).

⁵ Includes firms registered only as EMDs, restricted dealers (RDs), and EMDs/RDs also registered in other registration categories (other than IFM or PM).

⁶ Includes firms registered only as SPDs and SPDs also registered in other registration categories.

- are in the business of trading in, or advising on, securities (this is referred to as the "business trigger" for registration)
- direct the business, operations or affairs of an investment fund
- act as an underwriter
- conduct trading or advising activities involving commodity futures contracts or commodity futures options

Individuals must register if they trade, advise or underwrite on behalf of a registered dealer or adviser, or act as the Ultimate Designated Person (**UDP**) or Chief Compliance Officer (**CCO**) of a registered firm.

There are seven dealer and adviser categories for firms trading in or advising on securities, or acting as an underwriter, as applicable:

- portfolio manager (PM)
- restricted portfolio manager (RPM)
- exempt market dealer (EMD)
- restricted dealer (**RD**)
- scholarship plan dealer (SPD)
- investment dealer (ID) firms in this category must be a member of CIRO
- mutual fund dealer (MFD) firms in this category must be a member of CIRO

There are four dealer and adviser categories for firms trading in or advising on commodity futures:

- commodity trading adviser (CTA)
- commodity trading counsel (CTC)
- commodity trading manager (CTM)
- futures commission merchant (FCM) firms in this category must be a member of CIRO

Investment fund manager (**IFM**) is a separate category for firms that direct the business, operations or affairs of investment funds.

This report is also relevant to derivative market participants including derivatives dealers and derivatives advisers.

While this report focuses primarily on registered firms and individuals directly overseen by the OSC, firms directly overseen by CIRO are encouraged to review the report for information and guidance that may also be relevant to them. The OSC will implement an enhanced framework of ongoing oversight of CIRO's performance of delegated powers and duties and intends to perform risk-based direct compliance examinations of CIRO member firms.

Service standards

We are committed to accountability and transparency, and to ensuring services are delivered in the most efficient and effective ways possible. The compliance examination and registration service standards and timelines are incorporated into the <u>OSC Service Commitment</u> and can also be accessed at:

- <u>Registration Materials</u>
- Notices of End of Individual Registration or Permitted Individual Status
- <u>Compliance Reviews: Registrants</u>

Organizational structure

The RIE Division is led by the Senior Vice President, supported by the RIE management team.

The Division is organized into: Examination Teams, the Registrant Conduct Team, the Data Strategy and Risk Team and the Registration Team.

The Examination Teams are responsible for conducting compliance examinations of registered firms and other regulated market participants and assessing emerging compliance risks. Examination staff consists of accountants and lawyers who are subject matter experts in the compliance requirements applicable to different types of market participants. The Examination Teams also provide support to the Registration Team in assessing new firm applicants for registration.

The Registrant Conduct Team handles matters that require further regulatory action to remediate registrant misconduct or to review higher-risk registration applications. Registrant misconduct may be addressed by applying terms and conditions to registration, suspension of registration or referral to Enforcement. A separate publication for the activities undertaken by the Registrant Conduct Team will be published later this year.

The Data Strategy and Risk Team performs financial analysis of registered firms' interim and annual financial statements and capital calculations, leads the Capital Markets participation fee process and oversees all fee matters. This team is also responsible for administering the OSC's risk assessment questionnaire, supporting data requirements and conducting data analytics.

The Registration Team focuses on the initial registration of firms and individuals, subsequent changes to registration, including the surrender of registration, and ongoing maintenance of registration information.

Name	Title	Phone
Matthew Onyeaju	Senior Vice President	647-501-8193
Felicia Tedesco	Deputy Director, Operations	647-404-7582
Alizeh Khorasanee	Manager, Dealer and Derivatives Team	416-716-3307
Daniel Panici	Manager, Portfolio Manager Team	416-593-8113
Dena Staikos	Manager, Regulated Entities and SRO Team	416-558-9218
Erin Seed	Manager, Investment Fund Manager Team	647-625-3393
Jeff Sockett	Manager, Data Strategy and Risk Team	416-593-2160
Michael Denyszyn	Manager, Registrant Conduct Team and Registration Team	647-295-5317

Staff contact information

The format for our email addresses is first initial and last name: First Last, <u>flast@osc.gov.on.ca</u>.

For registration or fee inquiries, please use the following contact information:

- Registration inquiries: <u>registrations@osc.gov.on.ca</u>
- Fees inquiries: <u>annualfees@osc.gov.on.ca</u>

Part 1: Outreach

- 1.1 Outreach program and resources
- 1.2 <u>Registrant Advisory Committee</u>

1.1 Outreach program and resources

Launched in 2013, the objectives of our Registrant Outreach program are to strengthen communication with Ontario registrants and other industry participants (such as lawyers and compliance consultants), to promote strong compliance practices and to enhance investor protection. The program is also pivotal to strengthening the OSC's position as a trusted and influential voice in Canadian capital markets.

Registrant Outreach statistics since inception

Sessions held (in-person and webinars)	Individual attendance	Replays viewed	Topical Guide for Registrants (annual page views)
75	16,589	14,710	7,750

Interested in attending an upcoming Registrant Outreach seminar? Click <u>here</u> for our calendar of upcoming events.

Looking for information about regulation matters?

Take a look at our <u>Registrant Outreach program</u> webpage or our <u>Topical Guide for</u> <u>Registrants</u> for help with key compliance issues and policy initiatives.

Want to be informed about newly released publications? Register to receive our e-mail alerts <u>here</u>.

Looking for a listing of recent e-mail alerts and links to each? Refer to the <u>Compliance-related reports</u>, staff notices and email notifications webpage.

Interested in reading previously published Director's decisions? Refer to the <u>Opportunity to be heard and Director's decisions</u> webpage. If you have questions related to the Registrant Outreach program or have suggestions for seminar topics, please send an e-mail to <u>RegistrantOutreach@osc.gov.on.ca</u>.

1.2 Registrant Advisory Committee

Established in January 2013, the Registrant Advisory Committee (**RAC**) is in its seventh term, chaired by the Senior Vice President of RIE.

Following the completion of the sixth term, the RAC was reconstituted and is currently comprised of 13 external members whose terms began in January 2025 and end in December 2026. The RAC meets quarterly, with members serving a minimum twoyear term.

The RAC's objectives are to:

- advise on issues and challenges faced by registrants in interpreting and complying with Ontario securities law, including registration and compliancerelated matters, and
- provide feedback on the development and implementation of policy and rulemaking initiatives that promote investor protection, fair and efficient capital markets, and contribute to the stability of the financial system.

Discussion topics during the fiscal year (April 1, 2024 – March 31, 2025) included:

- the CSA's proposed binding authority framework
- perspectives on implementation challenges associated with the CFRs
- the applicability of Canadian securities law and the use of artificial intelligence systems in capital markets
- behavioral insights research on artificial intelligence

Part 2: Information for dealers, advisers and investment fund managers

2.1 <u>Annual highlights</u>

2.2 <u>Registration and compliance deficiencies</u>

How to navigate Part 2 of the 2025 Annual Report

Part 2 of the report provides an overview of the key findings and outcomes from compliance examinations conducted during the 2024-2025 fiscal year:

- <u>Section 2.1</u> discusses the annual highlights of the work we completed.
- <u>Section 2.2</u> discusses key or novel issues, suggests best practices, and specifies applicable legislation and relevant guidance to assist firms in addressing each of the topic areas. For ease of reference, registration categories are listed beside each deficiency heading to indicate that the information is relevant to firms registered in those categories.

We encourage registrants to review all the information set out in Part 2 of this report as the guidance presented may be helpful to registration categories other than those listed.

2.1 Annual highlights

2.1.1	<u>CFRs - know y</u>	your client, know y	<u>our pro</u>	duct and suitability	
	determination examinations				

- 2.1.2 <u>Restricted dealer CTPs' compliance with the account appropriateness,</u> <u>investment limits and client limits requirements compliance</u> <u>examinations</u>
- 2.1.3 <u>High-risk examinations</u>
- 2.1.4 <u>High-impact examinations</u>
- 2.1.5 <u>High-risk firms identified through the "Registration as the First</u> <u>Compliance Examination" program</u>
- 2.1.6 <u>Net asset value adjustments examinations</u>
- 2.1.7 Digital engagement practices (DEP) examinations
- 2.1.8 Financial institution sales practices examination

2.1.1 CFRs - know your client, know your product and suitability determination examinations

The CFRs were a set of amendments to NI 31-103 designed to better align the interests of registrants, both firms and individuals, with the interests of their clients, improve outcomes for clients, and make clearer to clients the nature and terms of their relationship with registrants. The CFRs came into effect in two stages in 2021. The first stage of amendments involved changes to the conflicts of interest requirements for registrants. The second stage involved changes to the know your client (**KYC**), know your product (**KYP**) and suitability determination requirements for registrants.

In 2023, the CSA and CIRO published <u>Joint CSA/CIRO Staff Notice 31-363 Client</u> *Focused Reforms: Review of Registrants' Conflicts of Interest Practices and Additional Guidance* (SN 31-363), highlighting our findings and guidance from examinations focused on firms' compliance with the conflicts of interest requirements, as amended by the CFRs. The CSA and CIRO have also recently completed a set of examinations focused on assessing firms' compliance with the KYC, KYP and suitability determination requirements, as amended by the CFRs. We anticipate the findings from these examinations, along with guidance, will be published later this year.

2.1.2 Restricted dealer CTPs' compliance with the account appropriateness, investment limits and client limits requirements compliance examinations

OSC Staff Notice 33-757 Review of Restricted Dealer Crypto Asset Trading Platforms' Compliance with the Account Appropriateness, Investment Limits and Client Limits Requirements was published on December 10, 2024. It outlines the results of our focused compliance examinations of registered CTPs' compliance with the conditions of their exemptive relief decisions in respect of account appropriateness assessments, investment limits and client limits. The staff notice highlights instances where CTPs did not adequately comply with these conditions, particularly in assessing account appropriateness for clients and determining a client limit that is meaningfully tailored to each client's individual circumstances in order to mitigate the risk of clients incurring significant losses while trading in crypto contracts on CTPs. It also provides suggested practices for CTPs to meet their regulatory obligations under their exemptive relief decisions.

CTPs currently registered as restricted dealers, or seeking exemptive relief, should refer to the guidance in the staff notice when designing an appropriate framework to comply with the account appropriateness, investment limits and client limits requirements.

2.1.3 High-risk examinations

We continue to assess the most efficient and effective way to oversee our registrant population, including our use of a risk-based approach to select firms for compliance examinations.

In 2024, we reviewed firms that were risk-ranked as 'high' based on information collected from the risk assessment questionnaire. A firm may be risk-ranked as high based on a variety of factors, including: the nature of the firm's business activities, a large amount of client assets under management (**AUM**), the number of compliance staff relative to the amount of AUM, and the number of clients and/or type of clients serviced by the firm.

In some cases, the number and nature of the significant deficiencies identified led to further regulatory action.

2.1.4 High-impact examinations

High-impact firms are those firms that, given the size of their AUM, could have a significant impact on the capital markets if there was a breakdown in their compliance structure or key operations.

In the 2024-2025 fiscal year, we commenced compliance examinations of four highimpact firms who had a combined AUM of approximately \$400 billion as of December 31, 2024.

We focused our high-impact examinations to assess each firm's ability to identify and effectively manage its regulatory and compliance risks by reviewing:

- their governance structure,
- their risk framework, including the risk identification and risk management processes, and
- any compliance issues self-identified during the review period, including how any non-compliance was remediated and the steps put in place to prevent reoccurrence.

2.1.5 High-risk firms identified through the "Registration as the First Compliance Examination" program

Our "Registration as the First Compliance Examination"⁷ program includes a risk assessment of newly registered firms. A firm may be categorized as high-risk based on the firm's proposed business operations, compliance systems and proficiency of the firm's individuals. As a result, targeted examinations of these firms may be scheduled within a certain period of time following the commencement of operations.

As in previous years, we conducted compliance examinations of newly registered firms categorized as high-risk to assess their compliance with Ontario securities law. Significant deficiencies raised as part of these examinations included the following operational areas:

- KYC, KYP & suitability determinations
 - o inadequate collection of KYC and trusted contact person information
 - o inadequate determination of risk profile

⁷ For more information on the "Registration as the First Compliance Examination" program, please refer to section 3.1a) *Pre-registration reviews* of <u>OSC Staff Notice 33-745 2014 Annual Summary Report for</u> <u>Dealers, Advisers and Investment Fund Managers</u>.

- o inadequate product due diligence (KYP) performed
- o inadequate process and documentation of suitability determinations
- o potentially unsuitable investments
- Prospectus exemptions improper reliance on prospectus exemptions
- Conflicts of interest material conflicts of interest not identified, and not adequately addressed or disclosed
- Referral arrangements no referral arrangement disclosure provided to clients

2.1.6 Net asset value adjustments examinations

Section 12.14 of NI 31-103 requires IFMs to submit a completed Form 31-103F4 *Net Asset Value Adjustments* (**Form 31-103F4**) within 90 days after the end of their financial year and within 30 days after the end of their first, second and third interim periods, if any net asset value (**NAV**) adjustments were made during the financial year, including any interim period.

Between March 1, 2023 and March 31, 2024, we reviewed 77 Form 31-103F4 submissions, which included NAV adjustments impacting 268 investment funds, from 27 IFMs.

We followed up with 17 IFMs where:

- the reason for the NAV adjustment was unclear
- the error remained unresolved for an extended period
- it was not noted whether impacted unitholders or investment funds were compensated, or the amount of such compensation
- the firm's control systems were not updated
- the updates to the firm's policies were not adequately explained
- the proposed corrective measures did not appear adequate

Although most firms identified and rectified the errors promptly, we observed instances where inadequate controls allowed errors to remain undetected for extended periods, sometimes exceeding one month. When NAV errors are identified (including errors below the IFM's materiality threshold), IFMs are expected to review their operational procedures to determine if any gaps led to the incorrect NAV and enhance their controls where necessary to prevent future occurrences.

2.1.7 Digital Engagement Practices (**DEP**) examinations

Since 2022, the OSC's Investor Office has released a series of research reports focused on the use of DEPs such as gamification⁸ and the subset of DEPs known as dark patterns,⁹ and their impact on retail investors' trading behaviours and outcomes. These research reports highlight the need for further review by regulators to consider whether future policy development and guidance on the use of DEPs are required to address investor protection concerns.

To gain a better understanding of DEPs used by registrants, we conducted examinations of PMs, EMDs and CTPs (those registered as restricted dealers or having a signed pre-registration undertaking). We assessed whether and how the use of DEPs complies with:

- registrants' obligations to deal fairly, honestly and in good faith with clients under s. 2.1(1) of OSC Rule 31-505, and
- the registrant's obligation to address any conflicts of interest in the best interest of the clients.

Findings from our desk examinations will be used to inform further policy development and guidance in relation to the use of DEPs by registrants, in identifying the impact DEPs may have on investor outcomes and flagging practices which we observe as negatively impacting investor behaviour. We expect to publish guidance early fall of 2025.

⁸ For more information, see <u>OSC Staff Notice 11–796 Digital Engagement Practices in Retail Investing:</u> <u>Gamification and Other Behavioural Techniques</u> and <u>Gamification Revisited</u>: <u>New Experimental Findings</u> <u>in Retail Investing</u>

⁹ For more information, see <u>Digital Engagement Practices: Dark Patterns in Retail Investing</u>

2.1.8 Financial institution sales practices examination

In November 2024, the OSC and CIRO commenced a coordinated review of sales practices within five large Canadian bank-affiliated mutual fund dealers.

The review followed a public media report of potential investor harm due to alleged high-pressure sales practices at some Canadian bank branches. The initial phase of the work was to build an understanding of the sales culture and environment within Canadian banks, and to identify and assess the scale of any potential issues.

We have completed the initial phase of our review, which involved gathering information directly from mutual fund dealing representatives working out of bank branches located in Ontario through a voluntary, anonymous survey. The OSC's Research and Behavioural Insights Team played a key role in this project, providing expertise in behavioural science and leading the development of the survey methodology, data analysis, and interpretation.

The survey results were published on July 9, 2025 in the OSC's and CIRO's report <u>Sales</u> <u>Culture Concerns at Five of Canada's Bank-Affiliated Dealers</u> and highlight several areas of concern with respect to the sales culture and environment within five of Canada's bank-affiliated mutual fund dealers.

Given the information provided to us through the survey data, we are continuing our work on this initiative. As noted in the report, the next phase of the work will focus on obtaining and assessing information directly from each of the five bank-affiliated mutual fund dealers related to specific concerns identified in the survey.

This next phase will enable us to obtain an understanding of the sales practices in place and how they may impact the behaviour of mutual fund dealing representatives, as well as any potential impacts to investors. We also want to understand the controls the dealers have in place to address any material conflicts of interest arising from the sales practices, including the compensation, incentives, and performance metrics, and experiences of sales pressure.

Once we have completed our review and analysis of the information from each of the five bank-affiliated mutual fund dealers, we will consider our regulatory tools available and determine whether further action is required to ensure ongoing compliance with securities laws.

2.2 Registration and compliance deficiencies

- 2.2.1 <u>Conflicts of interest</u>
- 2.2.2 Prospectus exemptions misuse
- 2.2.3 Issues with EMDs holding client cash
- 2.2.4 Excess working capital and subordinated loans
- 2.2.5 <u>Delays in response to books and records requests for compliance</u> <u>examinations</u>
- 2.2.6 OSC filings arising from legal actions
- 2.2.7 <u>Referral arrangements</u>
- 2.2.8 Inadequate compliance system
- 2.2.9 Market value determination
- 2.2.10 Inadequate client statements and reports
- 2.2.11 <u>Delegation of advisory functions to non-registered individuals</u>
- 2.2.12 <u>Compensation paid to unregistered firms and individuals for</u> registerable activities

2.2.1 Conflicts of interest (All)

As noted earlier in this report, joint CSA and CIRO SN 31-363 published on August 3, 2023 summarized the findings following our examinations of firms' compliance with the conflicts of interest requirements, as amended by the CFRs, and provided additional guidance to registrants related to the conflicts of interest requirements.

Despite the additional guidance provided in SN 31-363, we continued to find that some registrants failed to adequately identify existing and reasonably foreseeable material conflicts of interest, address those material conflicts in the best interest of clients, and disclose the material conflicts of interest.

Registrants are required to address material conflicts of interest in the best interest of clients. If the registrant is unable to address the material conflicts of interest identified in the best interest of clients using controls, those conflicts must be avoided.

Conflicts of interest requirements, and the related requirement to maintain records to demonstrate compliance, apply to all firms, regardless of their size and number of conflicts. As noted in SN 31-363, creating and maintaining a conflicts inventory, such as a conflicts matrix, is a tool firms are strongly encouraged to use to demonstrate that a firm has identified and appropriately addressed all material conflicts of interest. A conflicts of interest inventory should include the following:

- a description of each material conflict of interest identified by the firm
- the firm's assessment for concluding why the conflict is material, including the criteria considered in making the assessment
- the potential impact and risk that the conflict can pose
- the registrant's obligation to address any conflicts of interest in the best interest of the clients
- who at the firm was involved in identifying the conflict and making the assessment of whether it is material
- the controls the firm has in place to manage or address each material conflict of interest, and how these controls are sufficient to address the material conflict in the best interest of clients
- how the firm has disclosed the conflict to clients

Firms should also maintain evidence of their periodic reviews of the conflicts of interest inventory and associated controls implemented.

Guidance pertaining to conflicts of interest is set out in SN 31-363. However, there are a few specific conflicts of interest that staff observed in recent examinations outlined below:

Distributing multiple series/classes of the same issuer to clients

We have noted EMDs that are distributing multiple series/classes of the same issuer to clients where some of the attributes associated with the series/classes create material conflicts of interest between the EMDs and their clients. These attributes include differences in the up-front and ongoing compensation paid to the EMD and differences upon redemption of the securities (in the form of a redemption charge) for the clients. In these cases, the EMDs failed to identify the material conflicts of interest associated with these compensation and redemption differences and adopt controls to address this conflict in the best interest of clients.

EMDs need to take reasonable steps to identify material conflicts of interest that may be associated with offering multiple series/classes of the same issuer to clients and must adopt controls to address these conflicts in the best interest of their clients or they must avoid the conflicts. In addition, when an EMD offers multiple series/classes of an issuer to clients, the dealing representatives must have suitability determination documentation to demonstrate that the series/class sold to the client was suitable for the client and put the client's interest first, and it must support why the particular series/class was sold to the client over another. When making a suitability determination, the EMDs and representatives must put the client's interest first, ahead of their own interests and any other competing considerations, such as a higher level of remuneration or other incentives.

Issuer-sponsored dealing representative model

As noted in <u>last year's Summary Report</u>, we have seen an increase in the number of registered firms using the issuer-sponsored dealing representative business model. In this model, an individual who works for an issuer (or its affiliate) is also registered with an EMD as a dealing representative to market the issuer's securities to investors.

The issuer-sponsored dealing representative has an inherent material conflict of interest because of their employment relationship with the issuer. This is because this relationship may motivate the dealing representative to make recommendations to

clients that would benefit the issuer. Further, another conflict that can arise is that some issuer-sponsored dealing representatives often can only offer securities of the issuer they are associated with, despite the availability of a range of alternative securities on the firm's shelf that could better for the client.

EMDs must identify these material conflicts of interest and implement controls to address the conflicts in the best interest of clients. For example, in some circumstances, it may be in the client's best interest to deal with another dealing representative who can offer a wider range of securities from the firm's shelf. In addition, EMDs must provide clear, written disclosure to clients that includes a description of the limited range of products and services the issuer-sponsored dealing representative is able to sell, and that other alternatives available to the client through the firm are not being considered.

Registered firms should:

- establish clear policies and procedures for identifying, addressing and disclosing material conflicts of interest, and for maintaining adequate documentation
- implement a process for the CCO to regularly report on material conflicts of interest to the firm's UDP, executive management, and board of directors (or equivalent), including how the firm is addressing such conflicts in the best interest of clients
- if distributing multiple series/classes of the same issuer with different attributes:
 - consider if those different attributes create a material conflict of interest and identify, address and disclose the material conflict of interest
 - clearly document the suitability determination process for the recommended series/class that was chosen over others and how it put the client's interest first
 - develop an investor profile for each series/class that would identify clients for whom the series/class may be suitable and also clearly identify clients for whom the series/class would not be suitable
- if using an issuer-sponsored dealing representative business model, adequately identify and address associated conflicts of interest, and clearly disclose to clients the restrictions on the dealing representative's activities

Legislative reference and guidance

- <u>NI 31-103</u> and related <u>NI 31-103CP</u>, s. 13.4 Identifying, addressing and disclosing material conflicts of interest registered firm
- <u>NI 31-103</u> and related <u>NI 31-103CP</u>, s. 13.4.1 Identifying, reporting and addressing material conflicts of interest registered individual
- <u>NI 31-103</u> and related <u>NI 31-103CP</u>, s. 11.5 General requirements for records
- NI 31-103 and related NI 31-103CP, s. 13.3 Suitability determination
- Joint CSA/CIRO Staff Notice 31–363 Client Focused Reforms: Review of <u>Registrants' Conflicts of Interest Practices and Additional Guidance</u>
- OSC Staff Notice 33-756 2024 Summary Report for Dealers, Advisers and Investment Fund Managers, pages 36-37

2.2.2 Prospectus exemptions misuse (EMD)

During our compliance examinations, we identified various instances where EMDs distributed securities to clients in reliance on a prospectus exemption, but the prospectus exemption was either (a) not available in that circumstance, or (b) the EMD did not collect or document enough evidence to support that the prospectus exemption was available in that circumstance. Specific issues we noted are discussed below.

Offering memorandum exemption (OM exemption)

Some EMDs failed to adequately consider the investment limits for eligible investors when distributing securities in reliance on the OM exemption. In Ontario, issuers and dealers are subject to a \$30,000 investment limit within a 12-month period when distributing securities to individual eligible investors in reliance on the OM exemption. If an individual eligible investor receives a positive suitability assessment from a PM, ID or EMD for an investment made above the \$30,000 limit, they can invest under the OM exemption to a higher limit of up to \$100,000 over a 12-month period.

Specific issues we saw:

• EMDs that did not consider the \$30,000 or \$100,000 investment limits within a 12-month period for individual eligible investors. Specifically, we saw some EMDs failed to adequately collect and document information about other

investments the client may have made outside the registrant within the last 12 months in reliance on the OM exemption. In some instances, this resulted in investment limits being breached and also raised some significant concentration and other suitability concerns.

 Instances where EMDs documented trades as "client-directed" trades for individual eligible investors above the \$30,000 investment limit, even though the EMD determined the investment action to be unsuitable. Client-directed trades cannot be used to circumvent the \$30,000 basic investment limit for individual eligible investors.

Family, friends and business associates exemption (FFBA exemption)

When citing reliance on the FFBA exemption for a trade, we noted that some EMDs did not adequately document the relationship that existed between the investor and the issuer that would permit the exempt trade. In particular, as noted in the NI 45-106CP, where citing reliance on the "close personal friend" or "close business associate" components of the FFBA exemption, EMDs should not only document the relationship being relied on for the FFBA exemption, e.g. "a close personal friend of a director of the issuer," but also document details that confirm that the nature and length of the relationship in question are adequate for reliance on the exemption. This includes documenting:

- the name of the person the purchaser is connected to (e.g. the name of the director of the issuer)
- a description of the nature and length of the relationship between the purchaser and the connected party (e.g. an explanation of the relationship the purchaser has with the director of the issuer, frequency of contact, how long the relationship has been in place, the level of trust and reliance that exists, etc.)

Additionally, if the issuer is relying on the FFBA exemption, the EMD must collect and document information to ensure that the investor itself has the connection to the issuer that satisfies the FFBA exemption. The FFBA exemption cannot be relied on if someone acting on behalf of the purchaser for the purchase (e.g. a dealing representative or a person holding a power of attorney) is the one with the connection to the issuer, not the purchaser itself.

Accredited investor exemption (AI exemption)

When securities were distributed to clients in reliance on the AI exemption, staff noted some instances where an incorrect definition of accredited investor was relied on for distributions. For example, we noted instances where EMDs distributed securities:

- to a client that was a corporation in reliance on a paragraph of the "accredited investor" definition that is only available to individuals (such as paragraph (j) of the accredited investor definition, which is only available to individuals, alone or with a spouse, who have net financial assets that exceed \$1,000,000)
- to two individuals that were not spouses (e.g. mother and daughter, brother and sister, friends, etc.) in reliance on a paragraph of the accredited investor definition that is only available to individuals alone or spouses (e.g. paragraph (j) of the accredited investor definition, described above)

Often in these cases, staff found that the client's investment could be completed in reliance on another paragraph of the accredited investor definition, however, a deficiency was still noted as the incorrect definition was relied on and documented.

More generally, EMDs should be collecting and documenting KYC information that supports reliance on the exemption, and the associated paragraph of the exemption, as applicable. For example, a transaction for a client that is a corporation in reliance on paragraph (m) of the accredited investor definition, which requires the corporation to have net assets of at least \$5,000,000, supporting financial circumstances for the corporation itself should be collected as part of the KYC process.

Where staff became aware of an issuer or dealer distributing securities without compliance with the prospectus requirement or an exemption from the prospectus requirement, staff may recommend compliance or enforcement action against the issuer and/or dealer as appropriate. We also remind market participants that, where a distribution of securities is made in breach of the prospectus requirements of Ontario securities law, this may provide investors with a civil right of action for recission or damages against the issuer, its principals and any intermediaries involved in the transaction.

EMDs should:

- take reasonable steps to confirm and document that the conditions of the prospectus exemptions relied on are met
- when relying on the OM exemption, ensure that clients are asked about other OM exemption purchases made in the preceding 12 months, and that past OM exemption purchases are monitored at the EMD itself, to ensure investment limits are not breached
- when relying on the OM exemption for an individual eligible investor investing greater than the \$30,000 investment limit, conduct a meaningful suitability determination and maintain documentation to evidence why the trade was determined to be suitable
- when relying on the FFBA exemption, collect and document information about the purchaser and the connection being relied on, if applicable, to ensure proper reliance on the FFBA exemption
- when relying on the AI exemption, collect and document information that confirms that the accredited investor definition being relied on is available in that circumstance
- establish clear policies and procedures for all the above

Legislative reference and guidance

- <u>NI 45-106</u> and <u>NI 45-106CP</u>
- <u>Act</u>, s. 73.3 Exemption, accredited investor
- <u>NI 31-103</u> and related <u>NI 31-103CP</u>, s. 13.2 Know your client
- OSC Staff Notice 33-754 2022 Summary Report for Dealers, Advisers and Investment Fund Managers, pages 28-29
- OSC Staff Notice 33-751 2020 Summary Report for Dealers, Advisers and Investment Fund Managers, page 36
- OSC Staff Notice 33-748 2017 Annual Summary Report for Dealers, Advisers
 and Investment Fund Managers, pages 50-55
- OSC Staff Notice 33-747 2016 Annual Summary Report for Dealers, Advisers
 and Investment Fund Managers, pages 46-47

2.2.3 Issues with EMDs holding client cash (EMD)

In cases where EMDs held client assets, we identified compliance deficiencies where these EMDs failed to meet their registrant conduct obligations relating to custody, conflicts of interest and suitability determination requirements in respect of client cash balances held in trust.

Custody

EMDs that hold or have access to client assets must ensure that client cash:

- is held separate and apart from the registered firm's own property and held by a qualified custodian or Canadian financial institution, in a designated trust account in trust for clients
- in the case of cash held for the purpose of trading, is transferred to the client's account held by that client's qualified custodian or Canadian financial institution as soon as possible following a trade

Conflicts of interest

EMDs with a trust account in the name of the registered firm that earns interest on client cash held in trust are expected to establish policies and procedures to identify material conflicts of interest associated with the trust account. These conflicts must be addressed in the best interest of clients through:

- appropriate controls to minimize the amounts and holding periods in respect of cash balances held in trust, or
- avoidance measures such as:
 - ensuring all interest earned on cash balances held in trust is paid to clients, or
 - implementing a trade settlement process that does not require the EMD to administer a trust account.

As a reminder, registrants must take proactive measures to identify reasonably foreseeable conflicts of interest and assess the materiality of those conflicts in the circumstances. For EMDs that hold client cash in a trust account, disclosure alone (without appropriate controls) will generally not be sufficient to address material conflicts of interest in the best interest of clients.

Suitability determination

Where an EMD holds or has access to client cash balances resulting, for example, from distributions or redemptions in connection with exempt market securities, we expect the EMD to meet its suitability determination obligation by, among other things, establishing a system of controls to assess the continued suitability of the client account after such distribution or redemption, so that an account that is suitable only for the purpose of holding cash temporarily is not used to hold client cash indefinitely.

If the firm cannot recommend an account, services or securities to the client that meet the criteria set out in paragraphs 13.3(1)(a) and (b) of NI 31-103 because these are not available at the firm, the EMD should decline to open an account or provide the securities or services to the client.

EMDs should:

 ensure that they have adequate policies and procedures in place with respect to the above (i.e. custody, conflicts of interest and suitability determination) if they hold or have access to client assets

Legislative reference and guidance

- <u>NI 31-103</u> and related <u>NI 31-103CP</u>, s. 14.5.3 Cash and securities held by a qualified custodian
- <u>NI 31-103</u> and related <u>NI 31-103CP</u>, s. 13.4 Identifying, addressing and disclosing material conflicts of interest – registered firm
- <u>NI 31-103</u> and related <u>NI 31-103CP</u>, s. 13.3 Suitability determination

2.2.4 Excess working capital and subordinated loans (All)

We continued to note the following issues with firms' calculation of their excess working capital:

Not aware of working capital position at all times

Some registered firms were not aware of their working capital position at all times. As noted in NI 31-103CP, a firm may be required to calculate its excess working capital every day. The appropriate frequency of working capital calculations depends on

many factors, including the size of the firm, the nature of its business and the stability of the components of its working capital. It may be sufficient for a sole proprietor firm with a dedicated and stable source of working capital to do the calculation on a monthly basis and, in general, it should be done no less than monthly.

Inadequate documentation supporting capital calculations

Registered firms did not maintain adequate books and records to evidence who prepared and reviewed working capital calculations.

Inaccurate capital calculations due to changes in subordinated debt

Registered firms did not accurately calculate their working capital on Form 31-103F1 *Calculation of Excess Working Capital* (**Form 31-103F1**), specifically with respect to subordinated debt in accordance with subsections 12.2(3) of NI 31-103. For example, some firms did not report increases in or repayments of the debt. Inaccurate reporting on Form 31-103F1 may result in a firm failing to meet its capital requirements. Registered firms must notify their principal regulator 10 days before the full or partial repayment of their subordinated debt or termination of their subordinated debt agreement. When firms submit a notice of repayment with respect to their subordinated debt, they should also provide an updated schedule to the principal regulator indicating the outstanding balance following the repayment.

Incorrect financial information used to perform capital calculations

Registered firms completed their Form 31-103F1 using financial information that was not based on the generally accepted accounting principles used to prepare their audited financial statements. For example, we noted instances where registered firms applied cash-basis accounting to prepare interim financial statements and Form 31-103F1 calculations resulting in an inaccurate reporting of the registrant's financial results for the period and therefore, an inaccurate calculation of excess working capital.

Registered firms should:

 calculate excess working capital on a regular basis and maintain adequate books and records to support their calculation

- consult sections 12.1 and 12.2 of both NI 31-103 and NI 31-103CP to ensure accurate calculation of excess working capital and prevent a failure to meet capital requirements
- notify their principal regulator of any repayment or termination of their subordinated debt 10 days before these changes are made
- calculate working capital based on the methodology prescribed in the Form 31-103F1
- use financial statements prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles when calculating their excess working capital
- ✓ be aware of their capital position at all times

Legislative reference and guidance

- <u>NI 31-103</u> and related <u>NI 31-103CP</u>, s. 12.1 Capital requirements
- <u>NI 31-103</u> and related <u>NI 31-103CP</u>, s. 12.2 Subordination agreement
- <u>NI 31-103</u>, Appendix B Subordination Agreement
- Form 31-103F1 Calculation of Excess Working Capital
- <u>NI 31-103</u> and related <u>NI 31-103CP</u>, s. 11.5 General requirements for records
- <u>NI 52-107</u>, s. 3.2 Acceptable Accounting Principles General Requirements
- <u>NI 52-107CP</u>, Part 2 Application Accounting Principles
- <u>NI 31-103</u> and related <u>NI 31-103CP</u>, s. 12.11(2) Interim financial information
- <u>CSA Staff Notice 31-350 *Guidance on Small Firms Compliance and Regulatory* <u>Obligations</u>, page 5 under the heading "Inadequate Excess Working Capital"
 </u>
- OSC Staff Notice 33-756 2024 Summary Report for Dealers, Advisers and Investment Fund Managers, pages 39 - 40

2.2.5 Delays in response to books and records requests for compliance examinations (All)

When staff conduct a compliance examination, as an initial step, we send the firm a books and records request. This initial request sets out a list of the registered firm's books and records that must be delivered or made available to staff for the start of the examination.

As necessary, we will make subsequent or additional requests for books and records throughout our compliance examinations.

To ensure that our examinations can be conducted efficiently, registrants have an obligation to keep such books, records and other documents as are necessary for the proper recording of their business operations and to demonstrate compliance with Ontario securities law, and that their books and records should be maintained in a manner that ensures they are readily available to be delivered to the OSC promptly and by the time requested by staff.

Staff appreciate registrants' co-operation in the timely provision of documents when requested for a compliance examination. Significant delays in receiving books and records, may be considered by staff as a compliance deficiency.

Registered firms should:

- implement policies, procedures and controls that are sufficient to ensure that the registrant is able to respond promptly to any requests for information from the OSC
- maintain books and records in a manner that is readily available and accessible
- when books and records are requested by the OSC for a compliance examination, provide the requested books and records in a timely manner

Legislative reference and guidance

- <u>Act</u>, s. 19(3) Provision of information to Commission
- <u>NI 31-103</u> and related <u>NI 31-103CP</u>, s. 11.5 General requirements for records
- NI 31-103, s. 11.6 Form, accessibility and retention of records
- OSC Staff Notice 33-755 2023 Summary Report for Dealers, Advisers and Investment Fund Managers, pages 42-43
- OSC Staff Notice 33-746 2015 Annual Summary Report for Dealers, Advisers
 and Investment Fund Managers, pages 41-42

2.2.6 OSC filings arising from legal actions (All)

During our examinations, we noted that some firms were plaintiffs or respondents named in outstanding legal actions and the OSC had not been notified of these legal actions as required by NI 33-109.

A registered firm must provide notice to the OSC of changes to the firm's information previously submitted in Form 33-109F6 by filing Form 33-109F5 in accordance with and within the time frames stipulated in NI 33-109. Registered firms are required to provide updates on the changes in legal actions reported in item 8.3 of Form 33-109F6. This includes disclosure of legal actions that involve fraud, theft or securitiesrelated activities, or that could significantly adversely affect the firm's business, under any statute governing the firm and its specified affiliates and their business activities in any jurisdiction with respect to the preceding seven-year period.

Notice should be provided for both new legal actions and developments in the proceedings, including defenses, counterclaims, third-party claims, amendments, settlements or resolutions of the claims (whether by judgment, dismissal or discontinuance), and appeals. For example, registrants should not assume notice of a counterclaim is not required merely because notice of the claim had previously been provided to the OSC.

It is an offence under securities law to provide false or misleading information in Form 33-109F6 or in Form 33-109F5. If a firm provides false or misleading information, or fails to meet the ongoing disclosure requirements, the matter will be investigated and could result in regulatory action against the registrant.

In addition to the obligation of firms to provide notification to their principal regulator of outstanding legal actions in the preceding seven-year period as noted above, individuals who are registered or approved as permitted individuals at these firms may also have to provide notice of change to their registration information. For additional information, we direct you to review the questions under Item 13 *Regulatory disclosure*, Item 14 *Criminal disclosure*, Item 15 *Civil disclosure*, and Item 16 *Financial disclosure* in Form 33-109F4.

Registrants should:

- notify the OSC if a registered firm or a registered individual is a defendant or respondent (or the equivalent in any jurisdiction) in any outstanding legal action
- review the disclosure requirements applicable to firms in item 7 and item 8 of Form 33-109F6
- review the disclosure requirements applicable to individuals in item 13, item
 14, item 15 and item 16 of Form 33-109F4

Legislative reference and guidance:

- <u>NI 33-109</u> and related <u>NI 33-109CP</u>, s. 3.1(1.1)(b) Notice of Change to a Firm's Information
- <u>CSA Staff Notice 33-320 The Requirement for True and Complete Applications</u>
 <u>for Registration</u>

2.2.7 Referral arrangements (PM/EMD)

Paid referral arrangements, whether they are referrals into a registered firm or referrals of a registered firm's clients to another entity, are inherent conflicts of interest which, in our experience, are almost always material conflicts of interest and must be addressed in the best interest of the client.

Staff have observed that registered firms did not always establish adequate controls over referral arrangements.

Some registrants are authorized by their clients to remit fees from the client's account to the referral agent for services the client receives from the referral agent. To demonstrate that they have addressed the material conflict of interest associated with this arrangement in the best interest of the client, these registrants should implement a process to verify that the referral agent has continued to provide the services to the client before remitting the fees. For example, when a referring agent retires, the registrant should determine that there is evidence to support that a new agent from the referring firm is currently providing the services to the client, before deciding that the ongoing payment of the referral fee is appropriate and that the arrangement continues to be in the client's best interest.

Registered firms should:

- enter into a written agreement with the referring party that clearly defines their roles and responsibilities
- enter into a written agreement with the client that includes all necessary and accurate disclosures to minimize any possible client confusion
- develop policies and procedures to maintain ongoing oversight over all referral arrangements, and exercise professional judgement when assessing whether they have obtained sufficient information to determine that a referral is in the client's best interest, both at the onset of the arrangement and on an ongoing basis

Legislative reference and guidance

- <u>NI 31-103</u> and related <u>NI 31-103CP</u>, s. 11.1 Compliance system and training
- Joint CSA/CIRO Staff Notice 31-363 Client Focused Reforms: Review of
 <u>Registrants' Conflicts of Interest Practices and Additional Guidance</u>, item 7
- OSC Staff Notice 33-750 2019 Summary Report for Dealers, Advisers and Investment Fund Managers, pages 40-42

2.2.8 Inadequate compliance system (All)

Staff continued to note registered firms that did not have an adequate compliance system. These firms were deficient in many areas of compliance in respect of their operations, often combined with the UDP and/or CCO not adequately having performed their responsibilities under securities law. For example, staff often concluded that a CCO was not adequately performing their responsibilities where the CCO was not aware of all aspects of the firm's operations, key risks, and applicable securities law.

In general, firms with an inadequate compliance system had:

- lack of awareness/understanding of securities law applicable to the firm's operations
- inadequate policies and procedures along with no monitoring/testing for compliance with any policies and procedures in place
- repeat deficiencies from a prior compliance examination

- lack of documentation to support compliance with securities law
- inadequate training of registered individuals

In cases where firms did not establish appropriate controls and policies addressing the above areas, we also noted many significant deficiencies specific to the firm's registration category(ies) including the following examples:

- EMDs that (i) took unsuitable investment actions for investor clients (e.g. concerns related to the client's concentration and risk profile, etc.), (ii) did not address significant conflicts of interest with respect to the distribution of securities (e.g. compensation and deferred sales charges), (iii) did not perform adequate KYP on securities distributed (iv) allowed unregistered individuals to be involved in distributions and (v) had issues related to reliance on prospectus exemptions.
- PMs where (i) discretionary managed account clients were invested in unsuitable securities due to the firm's inadequate procedures across KYC, KYP and suitability and (ii) the firm had also delegated of some of these activities to unregistered individuals.
- IFMs that (i) did not properly oversee their service provider(s) used for fund administration including fund accounting, transfer agent and trust accounting services and (ii) improperly valued securities and charged inappropriate expenses to the funds they managed.

When a firm does not have an adequate compliance system in place, staff may recommend further regulatory action, including a recommendation to suspend, revoke or impose terms and conditions on the firm's registration and/or referring the matter to the Enforcement Division, where the appropriate regulatory action can only be taken by the Tribunal.

Registered firms should:

- review all applicable securities law and relevant guidance to design an effective compliance system tailored to their business model
- create and maintain documentation that demonstrates compliance with securities legislation

- have internal controls and monitoring systems that pro-actively identify noncompliance
- perform periodic assessments of compliance with securities law and acts to make improvements where necessary, which may involve retaining professional legal and compliance advice from knowledgeable securities regulatory advisors

Legislative reference and guidance:

- Act, s. 32(2) Duty to establish controls, etc.
- <u>NI 31-103</u> and related <u>NI 31-103CP</u> s. 11.1 Compliance system and training
- <u>NI 31-103</u> and related <u>NI 31-103CP</u> s. 5.1 *Responsibilities of the ultimate designated person*
- <u>NI 31-103</u> and related <u>NI 31-103CP</u> s. 5.2 *Responsibilities of the chief compliance* officer
- <u>Registrant Outreach Seminar November 2019 The OSC Compliance Review</u>
 <u>Process and Effective Compliance Systems</u>

2.2.9 Market value determination (All)

We are concerned that some registered firms have not established an adequate process to determine and report accurate market values of securities held in clients' accounts.

In some instances, firms relied solely on pricing information provided by the custodian. Registrants should validate the accuracy of prices received from their primary pricing vendor to a secondary pricing source. This may be accomplished by comparing the prices of a sample of securities to a different pricing source than the one used by their custodian.

We also noted registrants that did not have procedures in place to review market values for private securities and securities where there are strong indicators that the price may be stale/old and not reflective of current values. A significant event may require the firm to write down the value of the security.

Registrants are required to monitor securities made available to clients for significant changes, which may result from market events or issuer developments. Monitoring activities should include an assessment of the impact of the changes on valuation of hard-to-value securities.

Registered firms should:

- ✓ have a valuation policy that:
 - establishes appropriate valuation methodologies for all security types made available to clients
 - establishes criteria to value securities when market quotations are not readily available or are unreliable
 - describes factors or valuation approaches (e.g. fair value techniques) that will be considered when market quotations are not readily available or are unreliable
 - validates the accuracy of market values by comparing prices received from the primary pricing source to a secondary pricing source

Legislative reference and guidance:

- <u>NI 31-103</u> and related <u>NI 31-103CP</u>, s. 11.1 Compliance system and training
- <u>NI 31-103</u> and related <u>NI 31-103CP</u>, s. 13.2.1 Know your product

2.2.10 Inadequate client statements and reports (PM/EMD)

Client Relationship Model 2 (**CRM2**) requirements have been in effect since 2014. However, we have found some registrants who are not in full compliance with the requirements for the delivery of client statements and reports. Staff noted the following during compliance examinations:

Account statements and additional statements (collectively, client

statements):

- contained inappropriate disclaimer language limiting the firm's liability in relation to the accuracy and reliability of the information contained in the client statements
- reported position cost as tax cost instead of book cost or original cost

- consolidated all accounts (e.g. TFSA, RRSP, RIF, CAD/USD denominated accounts) owned by a client or a family group without also providing information at the account level
- contained abbreviated names of the securities bought/sold/transferred/held in a client account making it difficult for clients to identify the securities transacted in or held by the client
- were missing information such as:
 - the name of the person or company that holds or controls each security and a description of the way it is held
 - disclosure indicating whether original cost or book cost was used including the definition of original cost or book cost
 - the identification of specific securities where book/original cost were not available and where market value was used to report the position cost

Reports on charges and other compensation:

- were not delivered within 10 calendar days of the client statements in instances where the report was not combined with the client statement or sent at the same time as the client statement
- were inappropriately consolidated (e.g. for a family group, or without obtaining written client consent)
- included insufficient disclosure when clients with multiple accounts (e.g. TFSA and RRSP accounts) designated that only one account pay all fees incurred

Investment performance reports:

- were not delivered within 10 calendar days of the client statements in instances where the report was not combined with the client statement or sent at the same time as the client statement
- were inappropriately consolidated (e.g. for a family group, or without obtaining written client consent)
- did not include text, tables and charts to illustrate the contents of the reports, or adequate disclosure when presenting benchmarks
- were missing required information such as:
 - the definition of total percentage return

- notes explaining the content of the report and how a client can use the information to assess the performance of the client's investments
- notes explaining the changing value of the client's investments as reflected in the report
- disclosure to indicate that the returns were not annualized, where the returns for less than one year were presented
- adequate explanation that the money-weighted rate of return may be impacted by the deduction or absence of management fees

We also noted ineffective internal controls over client reporting. Examples include:

- no reconciliations to verify that the information presented (e.g. market values)
 was consistent across the various documents provided
- no oversight procedures to ensure that outsourced processes for client reporting documents met all the CRM2 requirements

Finally, we continue to note instances where registrants did not deliver the required client statements, compensation reports or performance reports. Examples include:

- EMDs that held client assets
- EMDs that did not hold client assets, but received trailing commissions related to the client's ownership of the securities distributed by the EMD
- PMs that believed that they had met their statement delivery obligation because their clients' custodians were carrying out these tasks. We remind PMs to refer to CSA Staff Notice 31-347 *Guidance for Portfolio Managers for Service Arrangements with IIROC Dealer Members*.

Legislative reference and guidance

- <u>Act</u>, s. 32(2) Duty to establish controls, etc.
- <u>NI 31-103</u> and related <u>NI 31-103CP</u> s. 11.1 Compliance system and training
- <u>NI 31-103</u> and related <u>NI 31-103CP</u> s. 14.14 Account statements
- <u>NI 31-103</u> and related <u>NI 31-103CP</u> s. 14.14.1 Additional statements
- <u>NI 31-103</u> and related <u>NI 31-103CP</u> s. 14.14.2 Security position cost information
- <u>NI 31-103</u> and related <u>NI 31-103CP</u> s. 14.17 Report on charges and other compensation
- <u>NI 31-103</u> and related <u>NI 31-103CP</u> s. 14.18 Investment performance report

- <u>NI 31-103</u> and related <u>NI 31-103CP</u> s. 14.19 Content of investment performance report
- <u>NI 31-103</u> and related <u>NI 31-103CP</u> s. 14.20 Delivery of report on charges and other compensation and investment performance report
- <u>NI 31-103CP</u> Part 14 Division 2 Disclosure to clients
- <u>CSA Staff Notice 31-345 Cost Disclosure, Performance Reporting and Client</u> <u>Statements - Frequently Asked Questions and Additional Guidance</u>
- <u>CSA Staff Notice 31-347 Guidance for Portfolio Managers for Service</u> <u>Arrangements with IIROC Dealer Members</u>
- <u>Registrant Outreach Seminar February 2017 CRM2 Reporting to Clients and</u>
 <u>Portfolio Manager IIROC Dealer Member Service Arrangements</u>
- <u>Registrant Outreach Seminar October 2018 New Custody Rules and CRM2</u> <u>Refresher</u>

2.2.11 Delegation of advisory functions to non-registered individuals (PM)

PMs must collect KYC information from and make suitability determinations for their clients. These are client-facing portfolio management activities that require adviser registration.

We identified situations where registered firms improperly delegated portfolio management activities that require registration to non-registered individuals who provide holistic wealth and financial planning services. These individuals are not appropriately registered and should not be performing activities such as:

- collecting KYC information
- performing KYC updates
- assisting with asset mix and security selection
- discussing specific investment holdings and performance with clients

Subsection 25 of the Act provides that a person shall not engage in the business of, or hold themselves out as engaging in the business of, advising anyone with respect to investing in buying or selling securities unless the person is registered with the OSC or the person can properly rely on an exemption from the adviser registration requirements.

PMs must:

- ensure that registered individuals are responsible for:
 - o collecting the initial KYC and conducting KYC updates,
 - o suitability determinations and security selection, and
 - maintaining direct client communication.

Legislative reference and guidance:

- <u>Act</u>, s. 25(3) *Registration, advisers*
- <u>NI 31-103</u> and related <u>NI 31-103CP</u>, s. 13.2 Know your client
- <u>NI 31-103</u> and related <u>NI 31-103CP</u>, s. 13.3 Suitability determination
- <u>CSA Staff Notice 31-336 Guidance for Portfolio Managers, Exempt Market</u> <u>Dealers and Other Registrants on the Know-Your-Client, Know-Your-Product</u> <u>and Suitability Obligations</u>, pages 8 – 9

2.2.12 Compensation paid to unregistered firms and individuals for registerable activities (All)

Compensation for registerable trading, advising or IFM activities must be paid directly to registered firms or the registered individuals that the firm sponsors. During compliance examinations and reviews of registration filings, we have identified situations where compensation for registerable trading or advising activity was paid to (or proposed to be paid to) an unregistered entity. As an example, we observed arrangements where PMs were paying an unregistered entity, partly or wholly owned by the PM's advising representatives, compensation for their portfolio management services. In some cases, the unregistered entity was the representative's personal holding company, and in others it was an active company providing services such as financial planning.

We are of the view that such arrangements do not comply with registration requirements. Registered firms must instead directly compensate the registered individuals they sponsor for their registerable activity on behalf of the firm, including for advising and trading in securities, such as by making payments directly to a bank account in the individual's name. Unregistered firms and individuals may only be paid for activities that do not require registration under section 25 of the Act.

We have also identified cases where unregistered individuals at registered firms were engaged in registerable activity, such as client relationship management for managed account clients, and were compensated for this activity by their firms either directly or to an unregistered entity that they owned. Engaging in registerable activity without registration will warrant investigation and potentially significant regulatory action.

Registered firms should:

- directly compensate their registered individuals for their registerable activities, and not compensate any unregistered firms or individuals for registerable activity
- maintain records to identify compensation that is tied to registerable activities, and to support that compensation for registerable activities is only paid to registered firms or registered individuals
- have supervisory and control systems that provide reasonable assurance that non-registered individuals at the firm are not engaged in any registerable activity

Legislative reference and guidance

- Act, s. 25 Registration
- <u>CSA Position Paper 25-404 New Self-Regulatory Organization Framework</u> under the heading "Harmonizing Directed Commissions"

Part 3: Initiatives impacting registrants and market participants

3.1	Delegation of registration function to CIRO
3.2	CTPs prioritization of applications for ID registration with CIRO
3.3	<u> Relevant investment management experience – enhanced approach</u>
3.4	Derivatives: business conduct rules
3.5	Derivatives: trade reporting data rule amendments
3.6	<u>Application of securities legislation to certain business models</u> purporting to offer immediate delivery of crypto assets

3.1 Delegation of registration function to CIRO

On April 1, 2025, the OSC delegated the registration function for firms registered in the categories of ID, MFD and FCM, and the individuals who act on their behalf, to CIRO (the **Delegation**). Prior to the Delegation, CIRO had already been responsible for the registration of individuals who acted on behalf of IDs. This re-alignment of certain functions between the OSC and CIRO was a priority identified in the OSC's Statement of Priorities for 2025-2026 and is aimed at promoting improved and streamlined regulation of securities dealers, better allocation of resources across the regulatory ecosystem and enhanced investor protection. This was also a key recommendation in the <u>Capital Markets Modernization Taskforce final report</u> published in January of 2021.

The registration function for the following firm categories, and the registered and permitted individuals who act on their behalf, has not been delegated and remains with the OSC: IFM, PM, RPM, EMD, RD, SPD, CTA, CTM, and CTC, as well as MFDs that rely on legacy relief exempting them from CIRO membership.

Firms seeking registration as ID, MFD and/or FCM, while also seeking to register in a category that has not been delegated to CIRO, will be reviewed jointly by the OSC and CIRO.

The OSC retains concurrent authority for the delegated powers and duties, and CIRO's performance related to the Delegation will be subject to an enhanced riskbased framework of ongoing oversight by the OSC. Going forward, the OSC also intends to perform risk-based direct examinations of CIRO member firms.

OSC and CIRO staff have worked together to ensure the successful transition of this registration function and will continue to do so. For an interim period following April 1, 2025, in relation to applicants and registrants whose principal jurisdiction is Ontario, the OSC will assist CIRO with certain matters related to the review of applications and ongoing suitability for registration. For this reason, firms and individuals may still be contacted by OSC staff regarding applications or submissions.

The Delegation has not resulted in a change to the key information that firms and individuals are required to submit with respect to applications for registration and updates to registration information.

The Delegation is a positive step towards the streamlined regulation of securities dealers and the better allocation of resources across the regulatory ecosystem. A more streamlined registration process will also improve the experience of registered firms and individuals and ensure investors remain protected. In the future, the delegation of additional registration functions to CIRO will also be considered.

For more information on the Delegation, please refer to the <u>Delegation Order</u> and related <u>FAQs</u> which address common questions from both firm and individual registration perspectives.

3.2 CTPs prioritization of applications for ID registration with CIRO

In Canada, CTPs that facilitate or propose to facilitate trading of (a) crypto assets that are securities and/or derivatives or (b) instruments or contracts, based on crypto assets, that are securities or derivatives are expected to register as IDs and become members of CIRO, the regulatory body intended to oversee this type of activity.

The CSA had previously adopted an interim approach which allowed CTPs to operate as RDs in an appropriately regulated environment for a time-limited period while working toward obtaining CIRO membership. As this time-limited period is now over, CTPs that are currently registered as RDs are expected to have prioritized and diligently sought ID registration and membership with CIRO. Guidance for CTPs that are registered as RDs for an interim period was provided in <u>last year's Summary Report</u>.

OSC staff will coordinate with CIRO and other CSA jurisdictions to process a firm's change in registration category from restricted dealer to ID when the CTP meets the requirements for approval and CIRO membership.

Firms now seeking to become CTPs should apply to CIRO directly for registration as IDs and for CIRO membership. CTPs should submit a completed <u>Membership</u> <u>Application Form</u> and all supporting documents to CIRO and actively engage with CIRO on their applications.

Legislative reference and guidance

- <u>CSA and CIRO expect crypto trading platforms to prioritize applications for</u> <u>investment dealer registration and CIRO membership</u>
- Joint Canadian Securities Administrators/Investment Industry Regulatory
 Organization of Canada Staff Notice 21-329 Guidance for Crypto-Asset
 Trading Platforms: Compliance with Regulatory Requirements
- OSC Staff Notice 33-756 2024 Summary Report for Dealers, Advisers and Investment Fund Managers, pages 48 - 57

3.3 Relevant investment management experience – enhanced approach

A fundamental aspect of the registration regime is that an individual applying for registration as an advising representative or associate advising representative must meet both the educational and relevant investment management experience (**RIME**) requirements set out in securities legislation. Advising representatives may have discretionary authority over the investments of others, and as such, this category of registration involves the highest proficiency requirements.

We have considered feedback from industry describing changes to advising business models and other ways in which the portfolio management industry has evolved. We have assessed our approach to reviewing RIME and implemented training and procedural enhancements to account for this evolution. We have also engaged in an open dialogue with industry participants, along with our CSA colleagues, to understand the areas in which our approach to RIME could be enhanced. We continue to work with our CSA colleagues to harmonize our approach to assessing RIME. We are also monitoring these application types and there are early indicators of positive interactions with applicants and their counsel as the enhancements have come into effect.

Legislative reference and guidance

- <u>CSA Staff Notice 31-332 Relevant Investment Management Experience for</u> <u>Advising Representatives and Associate Advising Representatives of Portfolio</u> <u>Managers</u>
- <u>NI 31-103</u>, s. 3.11 Portfolio manager advising representative
- <u>NI 31-103</u> and related <u>NI 31-103CP</u>, s. 3.12 Portfolio manager associate advising representative

3.4 Derivatives: business conduct rules

After an extensive consultation process, NI 93-101 came into force on September 28, 2024. The rule imposes business conduct obligations on derivatives firms that will apply at various points during the relationship with their derivatives counterparties, which include but are not limited to fair dealing, conflicts of interest and complaints handling.

In response to concerns expressed by certain derivatives firms, on July 25, 2024 the CSA published <u>CSA Notice Regarding Coordinated Blanket Order 93-930 *Re Temporary Exemptions for Derivatives Firms from Certain Obligations When Transacting with Certain Investment Funds and for Senior Derivatives Managers from Certain Reporting Obligations* (the **Blanket Order**) which came into effect concurrently with NI 93-101. The Blanket Order exempts derivatives firms from the NI 93-101 requirements, other than the specified core obligations, when they transact with an investment fund that is managed or being advised by a foreign equivalent to a Canadian IFM or adviser. This is intended to ensure a level-playing field for certain domestic and foreign-advised investment funds seeking Eligible Derivatives Party status.</u>

Additionally, the Blanket Order also grants an exemption from the obligation to provide a Senior Derivatives Manager (**SDM**) Compliance Report for 2024. If a derivatives firm is relying on this exemption, its SDM Compliance Report for 2025 must also cover the period between the NI 93-101 effective date and December 31, 2024. Please note that all other applicable obligations under NI 93-101 continue to apply for derivatives firms relying on this exemption, including the obligation in section 33 of NI 93-101 to provide timely reports of non-compliance to the regulator in

circumstances where there is a risk of material harm to a derivatives party or to the capital markets generally, or the non-compliance represents a pattern of material non-compliance.

In response to implementation questions from derivatives firms, we published <u>CSA</u> <u>Staff Notice 93-302 Frequently Asked Questions About National Instrument 93-101</u> <u>Derivatives: Business Conduct</u> (the **Business Conduct FAQs**) on September 12, 2024. The Business Conduct FAQs are intended to clarify staff's views on how certain requirements under NI 93-101 should be implemented, while allowing derivatives firms the flexibility to adapt these requirements to their specific business frameworks. The Business Conduct FAQs may be updated periodically.

We remind derivatives firms that are subject to Part 5 of NI 93-101 *Compliance and Recordkeeping*, that we expect their written policies and procedures to outline and describe the process they have designed in respect of reliance on an applicable exemption.

3.5 Derivatives: trade reporting data rule amendments

In October 2024, the Minister of Finance approved <u>amendments to OSC Rule 91–507</u> <u>Trade Repositories and Derivatives Data Reporting</u> (the **Trade Reporting Rule**). These amendments will come into force on July 25, 2025 and address the need for harmonization with international standards to reduce the regulatory burden on derivatives market participants by reducing the complexity of reporting systems, operational costs, compliance costs, and by strengthening the quality and consistency of data.

Part of these changes include the adoption of internationally harmonized data elements, including unique transaction identifiers and unique product identifiers. Additional notable changes include increased domestic harmonization in terms of derivatives regulation and policy, improvements to enhance data accuracy and consistency, and new requirements for derivatives trading facilities to report derivatives transactions executed anonymously. We have also published a CSA-wide Derivatives Technical Manual (<u>OSC Staff Notice</u> <u>91-705 (Revised) CSA Derivatives Data Technical Manual</u>) to inform market participants on how to consistently report in accordance with the Trade Reporting Rule. Use of this manual will permit flexibility for future updates and maintain harmonization with global changes in reporting formats and values.

On October 31, 2024, <u>OSC Coordinated Blanket Order 96-932 *Re Temporary Exemptions from Certain Derivatives Data Reporting Requirements* came into effect to provide temporary exemptions on end-user reporting of creation data, life cycle event data, valuation data, reporting exclusions for commodity derivatives and transactions with affiliated entities. This Coordinated Blanket Order will cease to be effective on July 25, 2025, when the amendments to the Trade Reporting Rule come into effect.</u>

Additionally on February 20, 2025, the OSC issued <u>OSC Coordinated Blanket Order</u> <u>96-933 *Re Temporary Exemptions from Derivatives Data Reporting Requirements* <u>relating to the Unique Product Identifier for Commodity Derivatives</u> to provide market participants with temporary exemptions to continue to report Unique Product Identifiers for commodity derivatives as required under the current Trade Reporting Rule. This Coordinated Blanket Order comes into effect on July 25, 2025, and will cease to be effective on January 24, 2027, subject to any extension or revocation by the OSC.</u>

On May 1, 2025, the OSC published <u>CSA Staff Notice 96-307 Frequently Asked</u> <u>Questions about Derivatives Trade Reporting</u>, which helps clarify how certain requirements under the amendments should be implemented, and <u>CSA Staff Notice</u> <u>96-308 Derivatives Trade Reporting Notice of Significant Error or Omission</u>, which sets out a suggested form of notice that may be used to notify regulators of significant errors or omissions in reporting under the Trade Reporting Rule. This form will be available on the OSC's website beginning July 25, 2025.

3.6 Application of securities legislation to certain business models purporting to offer immediate delivery of crypto assets

We are aware of several CTPs claiming to make "immediate delivery" of crypto assets as described in <u>CSA SN 21-327 Guidance on the Application of Securities</u> <u>Legislation to Entities Facilitating the Trading of Crypto Assets</u> (**CSA SN 21-327**) and taking the position that they are not subject to securities legislation.

In many cases, we have identified potential investor protection concerns and questioned whether the activities of the CTPs fall within the scope of securities legislation, particularly where the CTP's business model involves the use of vouchers, online balances, or other mechanisms through which clients transfer funds to the platform prior to purchasing crypto assets.

These models typically involve clients transferring fiat currency (e.g. via e-transfer or ATM) to the platform, which then provides a voucher or credits the client with an online balance that may only be used to purchase crypto assets. Once the voucher is issued, or the online balance reflects the fund transfer, the client may then request a purchase of crypto assets, up to the amount of the voucher or balance. However, in many cases, clients may hold off on making a purchase or make a purchase using only a portion of their available funds, resulting in the CTP holding client's remaining funds for a period of time.

Following the client's request to purchase crypto assets, the CTP will procure the requested crypto assets and deliver the crypto assets to an external, client-controlled wallet. Firms have pointed to the last step in the transaction (i.e. the transfer of the crypto assets to the clients' wallets following the purchase request from the client) and claim to operate a non-custodial, "immediate delivery" business model that is not subject to securities legislation.

Staff are concerned that these CTPs may not be operating in compliance with applicable securities law. In staff's view, CTPs that adopt these pre-funding models

may be subject to securities legislation and raise material investor protection concerns:

- In the event of platform insolvency, clients may face challenges in recovering their fiat funds or in obtaining delivery of crypto assets.
- Clients are exposed to the operational soundness, solvency, proficiency, and potential fraud of the platform during the period that fiat funds are held by the platform.
- There may be uncertainty related to custodial arrangements, including transparency regarding how client assets are held, and uncertainty regarding whether sufficient assets will be available to meet withdrawal demands of fiat or crypto assets.
- Clients may face a risk akin to a run on the platform if many clients simultaneously attempt to withdraw fiat or purchase crypto assets for immediate delivery and the platform has not properly reserved assets to meet all claims.

Determining whether securities legislation applies requires a consideration of the economic substance of the transaction and the broad, protective scope of Ontario securities law. Under subsection 1(1) of the Act, the definition of "security" is broad and includes, among other things:

(b) any document constituting evidence of title to or interest in the capital, assets, or property of any person or company,

(e) a bond, debenture, note or other evidence of indebtedness (with some narrow exceptions, generally for regulated deposit-taking financial institutions), and

(n) any investment contract.

The guidance in CSA Staff Notice 21-327 explains that a transaction involving a crypto asset (even if they are not in and of themselves securities) may be subject to securities legislation if the transaction does not result in an obligation to make and take delivery of the crypto asset immediately following the transaction. The Capital Markets Tribunal has repeatedly found that such arrangements are "investment

contracts" and therefore meet the definition of "security" under the Act.¹⁰ CSA SN 21-327 states that we generally will consider immediate delivery to have occurred if:

- the platform immediately transfers ownership, possession, and control of the crypto asset to the platform's user, and the user is free to use, or otherwise deal with, the crypto asset without further involvement with or reliance on the firm or its affiliates, and without the firm or any affiliate retaining any security interest or any other legal right to the crypto asset, and
- following the immediate delivery of the crypto asset, the platform's user is not exposed to insolvency risk (credit risk), fraud risk, performance risk or proficiency risk on the part of the firm.

In determining whether an instrument constitutes a security, the Capital Markets Tribunal has stated that the term must be interpreted broadly and purposively, in light of the remedial nature of securities legislation and its overarching goal of protecting investors. As the Tribunal stated, "[t]he Act must be read in the context of the economic realities to which it is addressed" and "[s]ubstance, not form, is the governing factor."¹¹ Investor protection remains the overarching lens through which the attributes of an alleged security should be assessed. Accordingly, in assessing whether immediate delivery of crypto assets is provided to platform users, or whether securities legislation otherwise applies, CTPs should assess the substance and economic reality of the entire transaction, rather than focusing narrowly on individual steps within a broader transactional relationship.

We understand that some CTPs characterize their voucher products as "gift cards." As noted above, the definition of "security" under the Act is broad and there is no general exemption in Ontario securities law for instruments labeled as "gift cards." We remind issuers and other market participants that clause (e) of the definition of "security" in the Act includes any "bond, debenture, note or other evidence of indebtedness." The breadth of this definition for securities law purposes has recently been reaffirmed by the Ontario Superior Court of Justice and the Ontario Court of

¹⁰ Phemex Limited (Re), 2024 ONCMT 30 at paras 18-20.

¹¹ Hogg (Re), 2024 ONCMT 15 (CanLII) at paras 88 and 107. See also Nvest Canada Inc. (Re), 2024 ONCMT 25 (CanLII).

Appeal in the *Tiffin case*¹² and the Alberta Court of Appeal in the *Stevenson case*.¹³ In the *Tiffin* case, the Ontario Court of Appeal accepted that the scheme of the Act is a "catch and exclude" approach, whereby the Legislature has defined the term "security" very broadly and then provided certain exemptions from the Act's requirements, where the Legislature has concluded that the policy reasons for such requirements do not apply.

In staff's view, the fact that these platforms require clients to pre-fund their accounts means that, from an investor protection perspective, they raise many of the same concerns as crypto asset trading platforms that are registered under securities legislation. Although some platforms characterize their services as involving "immediate delivery," the use of pre-funding arrangements reflects a similar risk profile to that of regulated CTPs — including:

- Potential inability of the platform to source and deliver crypto assets in the event of a liquidity crisis or bankruptcy.
- Ongoing credit and operational risk exposure while client funds are held onplatform.
- Risks of inadequate custody, lack of price transparency, and inability to redeem claims in a market stress scenario.
- Uncertainty regarding clients' rights to recover funds or crypto assets in insolvency.

CTPs that operate within the securities regulatory framework are subject to requirements specifically designed to address these types of risks and to provide investors with meaningful protections.

CTPs should:

- carefully assess their models against securities law obligations
- consider the totality of the conduct, including the surrounding circumstances and economic realities, how the conduct impacts investor protection and other purposes and principles of Ontario securities law

 ¹² 2018 ONSC 3047 (SCJ) and 2020 ONCA 217 (OCA)
 ¹³ 2017 ABCA 420

 consult legal counsel to determine whether their operations require registration under securities legislation

Legislative reference and guidance

- Act, s. 1(1) Definitions security
- OSC Staff Notice 21–327 Guidance on the Application of Securities Legislation to Entities Facilitating the Trading of Crypto Assets
- Phemex Limited (Re), 2024 ONCMT 30
- Ontario Securities Commission v Tiffin, 2018 ONSC 3047
- Ontario Securities Commission v Tiffin, 2020 ONCA 217



Contact Information

Susan Pawelek, Senior Accountant, RIE 416-593-3680 <u>spawelek@osc.gov.on.ca</u>

Lisa Piebalgs, Senior Accountant, RIE 416-593-8147 <u>lpiebalgs@osc.gov.on.ca</u>

20 Queen Street West 22nd Floor Toronto, ON M5H 3S8

OSC Inquiries and Contact Centre 8:30 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. Eastern Time, Monday to Friday 1-877-785-1555 (Toll-free) 416-593-8314 (Local) 1-866-827-1295 (TTY) inquiries@osc.gov.on.ca

You can also use our <u>online form</u> located on the <u>Contact us</u> webpage on the OSC website <u>www.osc.ca</u> to reach us.

